IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC02-860

JAMES GUZMAN,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ERIC PINKARD ASSISTANT CCRC-MIDDLE FLORIDA BAR NO: 651443 OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL 3801 CORPOREX PARK DRIVE SUITE 210 TAMPA, FL 33609-1004 (813) 740-3544 COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is an appeal of the circuit court's denial of Mr. Guzman's postconviction motion.

References to the record from the post conviction hearing include a page number and are of the form, e.g., (PC-R. 123). References to the record of Mr. Guzman's retrial include a page number and are of the form, e.g., (R. 123). All other references are self explanatory or explained herein.

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Mr. Guzman has been sentenced to death. The resolution of the issues involved in this action will therefore determine whether he lives or dies. This Court has not hesitated to allow oral argument in other capital cases in a similar procedural posture. A full opportunity to air the issues through oral argument is appropriate in this case, given the seriousness of the claims involved and the gravity of the penalty. Mr. Guzman, through counsel, accordingly urges that the Court permit oral argument.

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The judgment and sentence considered by this appeal were entered by the Circuit Court of the Seventh Judicial Circuit, in and for, Volusia County.

On January 7, 1992, the Volusia County Grand Jury indicted Mr. Guzman for first degree murder and robbery. (R. 1992 277). The jury convicted Mr. Guzman of first-degree murder and robbery with a deadly weapon on September 24, 1992. (R. 1992 577). On September 29, 1992, the advisory panel recommended a sentence of death by a vote of 10-2 (R. 1992 600).

On Mr. Guzman's direct appeal, this Court reversed Mr. Guzman's convictions and sentence. *Guzman v. State*, 644 So. 2d 996, 1000 (Fla. 1994). This Court found that the trial court's failure to allow Mr. Guzman's trial counsel to withdraw despite a conflict of interest denied Mr. Guzman the "right to conflict-free counsel as required by the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution." *Id.* at 999.

In 1996, Mr. Guzman proceeded to a non-jury trial. (R. 1996 1246-47). The trial judge sentenced Mr. Guzman to death for the first-degree murder conviction without a recommendation from an advisory panel. (R. 1996 2368). On direct appeal, this Court affirmed both the convictions and sentence. *Guzman v. State*, 721 So. 2d 1155 (Fla. 1998). The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari

on May 3, 1999. Guzman v. Florida, 119 S. Ct 1583 (1999).

Following the United States Supreme Court's denial of certiorari, Mr. Guzman sought postconviction relief in the circuit court. Mr. Guzman filed a motion for postconviction relief under Rule 3.850.

The circuit court held an evidentiary hearing on this motion in October of 2001 and denied Mr. Guzman all relief. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On August 12, 1991, officers of the Daytona Beach Police Department responded to the Imperial Hotel in Daytona Beach. (R. 1330). They discovered a body later identified as David Colvin lying face down on a bed within one of the hotel rooms. (R. 1330). He had received multiple stab wounds. (R. 1330). From August 12, 1991, until November 23, 1991, the police investigation uncovered no evidence which implicated Mr. Guzman in the death of David Colvin. (R. 1502, 1503). On August 12, 1991, police interviewed Martha Cronin at the Imperial Hotel and she provided a statement which did not implicate Mr. Guzman. (R. 1526).

After Martha Cronin's November 23, 1991 arrest for violation of probation on prostitution charges, Martha Cronin changed her story and gave a statement to the police claiming that Mr. Guzman had confessed to her that he had killed David Colvin. (R. 1531). As will be demonstrated below, the testimony of Martha Cronin was essential to the state's case against Mr. Guzman, and the facts and circumstances of her changed testimony were the subject of several claims in Mr. Guzman's motion for postconviction relief.

(a) MARTHA CRONIN:

The state obtained a first degree murder conviction against Mr. Guzman primarily through the testimony of state witness Martha Cronin, an admitted prostitute and crack cocaine addict. Martha Cronin did not implicate Mr. Guzman in any way in her initial statements to the police.

Ms. Cronin testified at Mr. Guzman's trial that in August of 1991 she lived at the Imperial Hotel in Daytona Beach, where she worked as a prostitute. (R. 1653). She developed a relationship with Mr. Guzman. (R. 1653). Both she and Mr. Guzman used crack cocaine extensively during this period of time. (R. 1836). She fell in love with Mr. Guzman and had intimate sexual relations with him. (R. 1637). At trial, Ms. Cronin testified that Mr. Guzman related to her prior to David Colvin's murder that Colvin would be easy to rob because he drank a lot and usually had a lot of money. (R. 1639). She testified Mr. Guzman also told her that if he ever robbed anyone, he would have to kill them and that Mr. Guzman had owned a knife. (R. 1640-41).

Martha Cronin testified that on August 10, 1991 she returned to her hotel

-3-

room around 7:00 AM after working the previous evening as prostitute. (R.

1642,43). She then took a shower and laid down. (R. 1643). Mr. Guzman called and said he was going to drive David Colvin to the bank. (R. 1644). Mr. Guzman returned to the room after 11:00 AM and said he had gone to breakfast and had some drinks at the Office Bar. (R. 1645). He said he was going to help David Colvin move and had his car keys with him. (R. 1646). Ms. Cronin then went out and worked as a prostitute during the lunch period. (R. 1649). At about 2:30 or 3:00 Mr. Guzman came back to the room. (R. 1649). He appeared upset and had a garbage bag with white rags inside. (R. 1650). She assumed he went to throw the garbage bag away in the dumpster, although she did not see him do it. (R. 1651).

She testified that Mr. Guzman sat down next to her and said "I did it". (R. 1652). She asked him what he meant and he said "I killed David". (R. 1654). She said Mr. Guzman gave her two different versions of what happened. (R. 1654). The first one was that David Colvin was passed out and he was trying to take his money and when Colvin woke up he hit him, knocked him out, and stabbed him with a samurai sword. (R. 1655). Mr. Guzman then showed her a ring and some cash he had taken from David Colvin. (R. 1655). Ms. Cronin identified the ring at trial. (R. 1655).

According to Ms. Cronin, Mr. Guzman then asked her what he should do

-4-

with the ring, and she said get rid of it. (R. 1656). He told her that he killed David Colvin for her. (R. 1658). Mr. Guzman then left and returned with \$150.00 cash and two or three hundred dollars worth of crack cocaine. (R. 1659). She said she and Mr. Guzman smoked the crack over the next several days. (R. 1660). They then discussed what to say when the police came around, and Mr. Guzman told her to say she was not there. (R. 1661). She and Mr. Guzman left the Imperial Hotel and moved to Ridgewood Avenue. (R. 1663). Later, Mr. Guzman said he had fought with David Colvin and he killed him with a sword. (R. 1664).

In November of 1991 Ms. Cronin was arrested for violation of probation for soliciting for prostitution. (R. 1666). She asked the arresting officers if they wanted to know who killed David Colvin. (R. 1666). She mentioned the ring and the sword and then Detective Allison Sylvester came to speak with her. (R. 1661). She asked the Detective for a deal and testified to the events surrounding her arrest and changed testimony as follows;

> Q. And what did they do with you? A. They took me back to the police station and called Allison Sylvester.

Q. The case detective in this case. A. Yes Sir.

Q. Did you tell Allison Sylvester that you wanted a deal and you were going to talk about the murder?

A. Of course.

Q. And was the deal reference to your own case? A. Yes.

Q. Did you in fact, Ma'am, ever get a deal? A. No.

Q. What happened after you talked to Allison Sylvester?

A. Well, they put me in a motel for protection, I guess.

Q. All right. And ma'am, while you were in that motel, did you continue to engage in prostitution and use of crack cocaine?A. Yes, I did.

Q. Is it fair to say that was not part of your agreement with Detective Sylvester?A. No sir, it was not.

Q. Okay. Ma'am, why did you chose to talk to the police only when you were arrested in late November of 1991?A. I don't understand the question.

Q. Why did you pick that time to tell the police about the murder of David Colvin?A. I was tired of going to jail and watching him walk away, knowing what he had done.

(R. 1668).

On cross examination, Ms. Cronin admitted to using crack cocaine on a

daily basis from 1989 through July 19, 1993. (R. 1683). The police questioned her

on August 12, 1991 and she said nothing about Mr. Guzman's alleged confession. (R. 1688). She admitted to writing a letter to Mr. Guzman in December of 1991 stating that she "went off the deep end" when she found out Mr. Guzman was seeing another woman and if she could not have him, no other woman would. (R. 1696). She further stated in the letter that she "called Allison and told her what she wanted to hear and where you were." (R. 1696). She further testified that in August of 1991 Mr. Guzman helped David Colvin move from one room to another at the Imperial Motor Lodge. (R. 1727). In September of 1991 she ran into Allison Sylvester a couple of times on the street and never told her that Mr. Guzman had confessed to her or had anything to do with Mr. Colvin's death. (R. 1732) (b) ALLISON SYLVESTER:

Allison Sylvester of the Daytona Beach Police Department was the lead Detective on the case. She was called to the Imperial Hotel on August 12, 1991. (R. 1328). She saw the body of a white male laying face down on a bed inside a hotel room with pillows on top of him. (R. 1330). A sword was propped up in light fixture above the bed. (R. 1330). A black limousine belonging to David Colvin was parked in front of the hotel. (R. 1493). She interviewed Mr. Guzman and Martha Cronin on August 12, 1991. (R. 1495). Mr. Guzman related that he knew the victim and had previously helped him move from one room to another within

-7-

the hotel. (R. 1496). He further related that sometime prior to the body being found he had accompanied the victim to a bar and to a restaurant. (R. 1496). He had driven the victim's car at that time. (R. 1497). Mr. Guzman then gave a written statement to Detective Sylvester where he stated:

> I helped Dave move from 205 to 216 either on Wed or Thursday. And next I took him to eat at IHOP because he called me and wanted me to drive. And so I did. And then we went to a bar. I tried to get in touch with him after those days and have not been able to get in touch with him. Yes. I know Dave.

(R. 1499).

Allison Sylvester also interviewed Martha Cronin on August 12, 1991 and she did "not offer anything of substance at that time". (R. 1501). Detective Sylvester then commented on the ensuing investigation, and Martha Cronin's prominent role, from August 12, 1991 until Mr. Guzman was arrested on December 13, 1991:

Q. During that time, ma'am, please describe the general tone of your investigation throughout the months in trying to determine who the perpetrator was ? What exactly were you and your agents doing?A. We continued to follow up on any information that came in. And we continued to do that until the time that we received substantial information which would have been the end of November.

Q. And where did that information come from? A. Martha Cronin.

Q. Ma'am, let me ask you this. During the period of time from August until the end of November, when you said substantial information came from Martha Cronin, had you focused on James Guzman as the sole suspect to the exclusion of all others? A. No

(R. 1502-03) (emphasis added)

Detective Sylvester further testified that in late November 1991, Martha Cronin was located by police due to an outstanding warrant on prostitution charges, and she told the arresting officers that "she had information that she wanted to provide" (R. 1503). When Detective Sylvester first interviewed Martha Cronin on August 12, 1991, she never told her that Mr. Guzman had confessed to her. (R. 1526). On September 24, 1991 Detective Sylvester met with Martha Cronin and she related she had no information about the homicide. (R. 1530). On November 23, 1991 Martha Cronin was arrested for violation of probation and for the first time changed her story claiming Mr. Guzman had confessed to her. (R. 1531). Martha Cronin stated she wanted a deal, and Detective Sylvester called the State Attorney's Office, who informed her that she should arrest Martha Cronin. (R. 1571). Instead of jail, Detective Sylvester took Martha Cronin to a hotel. (R. 1532).

The police "lost contact" with Ms. Cronin while she was staying at the hotel and engaged in prostitution and using crack cocaine. (R. 1533). Detective Sylvester testified that she had an "agreement" with Martha Cronin for free room and lodging at the hotel. (R. 1551). Following her arrest for violating the deal she had made with Detective Sylvester, Martha Cronin was then released on her own recognizance on December 5, 1991, after Thomas Lane appeared in court on her behalf, falsely claiming to be her brother. (R. 1552). Detective Sylvester then testified on redirect examination by the state about the parameters of her arrangement with witness Martha Cronin. As will be demonstrated later in this brief, this testimony was a lie. The prosecutor elicited the following false testimony from Detective Sylvester:

> Q. Detective Sylvester, did you, in fact, personally offer Martha Cronin any deals whatsoever in exchange for her testimony against James Guzman? A. No, I did not.

> Q. Are you aware of any member of law enforcement or the State Attorney's Office offering any deals to Martha Cronin for her testimony against Mr. Guzman? A. No.

(R. 1559).

(c) THE RING:

The state produced testimony at Mr. Guzman's trial that he sold a ring

belonging to David Colvin to Leroy Gadson on August 10, 1991. Mr. Gadson testified he was contacted by Mr. Guzman around 4:00 or 5:00 on the afternoon of August 10, 1991. (R. 1820). Mr. Guzman told him he "had something" he wanted to show him. (R. 1822). Mr. Guzman came to his house about 20 minutes later and showed him a "nice gold ring with lots of diamonds in it". (R. 1824). He gave him \$250.00 and cocaine for the ring. (R. 1826). Either later that night or the next day Guzman came back and got more money and drugs. (R. 1830). In November of 1991 Mr. Gadson was arrested for drug charges and gave the ring to Detective Sylvester. (R. 1836). At that time he had given the ring to John Cerca. (R. 1832).

Two different factual versions of how Mr. Guzman came into possession of David Colvin's ring on August 10, 1991 were presented at Mr. Guzman's trial; one from Mr. Guzman and one from Martha Cronin. Martha Cronin's version, as she testified to at trial, was that Mr. Guzman showed her the ring when he came back to the hotel room and confessed to killing David Colvin. (R. 1655).

In contradiction, Mr. Guzman testified that on August 10, 1991, after going to the Shell gas station, the Office Bar and the International House of Pancakes with David Colvin, he returned to the hotel room where he stayed with Martha Cronin. (R. 2110). In the afternoon Martha Cronin gave him \$50.00 after turning a trick in the hotel room and she left to go buy drugs from Curtis Wallace. (R. 2111). According to Mr. Guzman's trial testimony, Martha Cronin returned with Curtis Wallace around 2:30 or 3:00 that afternoon. (R. 2112). Martha Cronin had a ring and said Curtis Wallace wanted to trade it for crack cocaine. (R. 2112). Mr. Guzman did not recognize it as David Colvin's ring. (R. 2113). Curtis Wallace said he wanted an "eight ball he could juggle"(referring to an amount of crack cocaine) in exchange for the ring. (R. 2114). Acting for Mr. Wallace, Mr. Guzman then called Leroy Gadson and met him at his house. (R. 2115). Mr. Gadson looked at the ring and paid him \$250.00 and an eight-ball. (R. 2116). Mr. Guzman returned to the hotel and gave Curtis Wallace half the eight-ball and told him he would give him the rest later. (R. 2117). Curtis Wallace then broke a piece of the drugs off for Martha Cronin and left the room. (R. 2117).

Mr. Guzman and Martha Cronin then smoked the cocaine, and she left to go get more from Curtis Wallace. (R. 2118). Mr. Guzman went to his apartment and called Leroy Gadson again. (R. 2120). Mr. Guzman went and got the rest of the drugs from Leroy Gadson and returned to the Imperial Hotel where he gave Mr. Wallace the rest of the drugs. (R. 2122).

Mr. Guzman admitted he had David Colvin's ring on August 10, 1991, and that he sold the ring to Leroy Gadson. The incriminating character of the ring evidence was established solely through the testimony of admitted cocaine addict

-12-

and prostitute Martha Cronin. Without her testimony, the ring evidence was not incriminating, as Mr. Guzman testified he got the ring from Curtis Wallace, whom the record reveals was a viable suspect based upon other evidence introduced at the trial.

(d) THE FINGERPRINT

Florida Department of Law Enforcement lab analyst Michael Rafferty testified at Mr. Guzman's trial. (R. 1338). He reviewed the crime scene in order to collect evidence. (R. 1339). He noted what appeared to be blood stains on the telephone in the room and placed the phone into evidence. (R. 1339). Fingerprints lifted from the handset of the phone were later identified as Mr. Guzman's at the crime lab. (R. 1625). Contrary to the lower court's order denying 3.850 relief, there were <u>NO BLOODY FINGERPRINTS ON THE PHONE</u>. (R. 1663). The state produced no evidence at the trial of a bloody fingerprint lifted from the phone. The fingerprint was merely lifted from the phone which had blood on it on other parts.

Furthermore, the evidence of Mr. Guzman's fingerprint on the phone in David Colvin's hotel room was not at all incriminating. Mr. Guzman testified he helped David Colvin move from room 114 to room 205. (R. 2096). He used the phone in Mr. Colvin's room at that time. (R. 2096). Other witness's called at the

-13-

trial corroborate Mr. Guzman's testimony. Thomas Conway, who worked at the Imperial Hotel and was the person who called the police after finding Mr. Colvin's body in his room, testified that Guzman had helped Mr. Colvin move into his room. (R. 1324). Even Martha Cronin testified that Mr. Guzman had called her from David Colvin's room. (R. 1644). Therefore, the existence of Mr. Guzman's fingerprints on the handset of the telephone was not evidence that he had anything to do with the murder of David Colvin.

(e) THE SNITCH:

The state presented testimony of jail house snitch Paul Rogers at Mr. Guzman's trial. Mr. Rogers testified that he met Mr. Guzman at the Volusia County Jail. (R. 1897). They shared the same cell for a couple of weeks and became friends. (R. 1897). He testified that Mr. Guzman said he drove a limousine for David Colvin. (R. 1905). He said that his girlfriend Terri (Martha Cronin's alias) was wanting to go out and hook and he said he had the key to David Colvin's room and he was going to rob him and get money. (R. 1905). He told Terri he was going to rob him so she would not have to hook. (1906). He went to David Colvin's room, opened the door, went through the drawers and David woke up. (R. 1906). There was a samurai sword hanging over the dresser on the wall. (R. 1907). He said he hit him with the sword 10 or 11 times. (R. 1908). He cleaned up the sword and put everything in the dumpster. (R. 1909).

On cross examination, Mr. Roger's admitted he had been convicted of felony seven times. (R. 1929). He also admitted to signing an affidavit on August 29, 1992 where he stated "I told the Assistant DA that I am not going to say shit and they brought me back - and they brought me back over from the Volusia County Correctional Facility. Guzman never confessed to me. I'm not going to testify against him." (R. 1930, *emphasis added*). He also admitted on cross that Mr. Guzman kept court papers in his room and his cell was open. (R. 1935). Mr. Guzman verified this when he testified that he kept his court papers in his foot locker, and Mr. Rogers had access to them. (R. 2163).

This jail house snitch testimony was notoriously unreliable in light of the witness' criminal history and his motivation to fabricate testimony to help his own cause. In this case, the credibility of snitch Rogers was further damaged by the signing of an affidavit where he specifically stated Mr. Guzman had not confessed to him. Mr. Rogers also had access to Mr. Guzman's court papers where he could have learned of the factual allegations of Mr. Guzman's case. Viewing this witnesses' testimony as corroboration of the testimony of admitted crack cocaine addict and prostitute Martha Cronin was dubious at best.

(f) OTHER SUSPECTS IN THE MURDER OF DAVID COLVIN:

-15-

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