IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAMES GUZMAN, Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC02-860

STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

\_\_\_\_\_/

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

# ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

RICHARD E. DORAN ATTORNEY GENERAL

KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar #998818 444 Seabreeze Blvd. 5th FL Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (386) 238-4990 Fax # (386) 226-0457 COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

The collateral proceeding trial court

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup>Guzman explicitly links this claim to the *Giglio* claim. *Initial Brief*, at 57. If the evidence at issue is not material for *Giglio* purposes, and that is the case, then that evidence cannot meet the stricter materiality standard of *Brady*. Guzman's putative alternative argument is inaccurate and misleading, and is not a basis for relief.

decided the Brady claim correctly.

To the extent that further discussion of this claim is necessary, the collateral proceeding trial court set out the *Brady* standard as follows:

To establish a violation of Brady a defendant must show: (1) the evidence at issue must be favorable to the accused, either because it is exculpatory, or because it is impeaching; (2) that evidence must have been suppressed by the State, either willfully or inadvertently; and (3) prejudice must have ensued. Jennings v. State 782 So. 2d 853, 856 (Fla. 2001) (citing Strickler v. Greene, 527 U.S. 263, 281-82 (1999)). The ultimate test under Brady is whether the disclosed information is of such a nature and weight that "confidence in the outcome of the trial is undermined to the extent that there is a reasonable probability that had the information been disclosed to the defendant, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Id. (quoting Young v. State, 739 So. 2d 553, 559 (Fla. 1999)).

(R930). The collateral proceeding trial court found that Guzman had not established that there was a reasonable probability of a different result had the \$500.00 reward paid to Cronin been disclosed. That disposition is a correct application of the law to the facts, and, in light of the extensive impeachment of Cronin, and the other evidence of guilt, there is no error. (R931-32). The denial of relief should be affirmed in all respects.

## III. THE "BAD FAITH" DESTRUCTION OF EVIDENCE CLAIM<sup>18</sup>

On pages 57-74 of his brief, Guzman argues, at length, that the destruction of a clump of bloody hair found at the murder scene (located on the back of the victim's thigh) entitles him to a new trial. Included within this claim is an ineffective assistance of counsel claim based upon the "failure" of defense counsel to discover that the hair had been destroyed.

This claim was the subject of an evidentiary hearing, and, because that is so, the standard of review applied by this Court in reviewing the trial court's ruling on the motion to vacate is: "As long as the trial court's findings are supported by competent substantial evidence, 'this Court will not "substitute its judgment for that of the trial court on questions of fact, likewise of the credibility of the witnesses as well as the weight to be given to the evidence by the trial court.'" *Blanco v. State*, 702 So. 2d 1250, 1252 (Fla. 1997), *quoting Demps v. State*, 462 So. 2d 1074 (Fla. 1984), *quoting Goldfarb v. Robertson*, 82 So. 2d 504 (Fla. 1955); *Melendez v. State*, 718 So. 2d 746 (Fla. 1998). The trial court's denial of relief is supported by competent substantial evidence, and should not be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup>This claim contains subsidiary *Brady* and ineffective assistance of counsel components, which appear beginning on page 71 of the *Initial Brief*.

disturbed.

The substantive "bad faith destruction of evidence" claim is procedurally barred, and, alternatively, without merit, as the collateral proceeding court found. In upholding a procedural bar to presentation of this claim the Court stated:

This Court agrees with the State['s assertion of a procedural bar] and finds that these allegations do not satisfy the test for newly discovered evidence. То establish a claim of newly discovered evidence, the defendant must show: (i) that the newly discovered evidence was unknown by the trial court, by the party, or by counsel at the time of trial and could not have been discovered through due diligence; and (ii) that the newly discovered evidence must be of such a nature that it would probably produce an acquittal on retrial. Jones v. State, 591 So. 2d 911, 915-16 (Fla. 1991). In the instant case, trial counsel testified that although he did not specifically remember the hair on the victim's thigh, he reviewed the evidence in this case at the time of trial and was aware of the hair evidence but did not attribute much significance to it because there were no signs of interference with the victim's rectum and the medical examiner told counsel that the victim's skull was fragmented and spattered around the room due to the blunt force wounds, thus, counsel presumed the hair was from the victim. See October 23, 2001 Evidentiary Hearing Transcripts at 247-60; 291-303; see also October 22, 2001 Evidentiary Hearing Transcripts at 78; 91-92; 103 (evidence room supervisor testified that items of evidence in Defendant's case is the same today as in 1995 when the inventory was completed; records supervisor testified that there was no request form the State Attorney or court order regarding the destruction of evidence in Defendant's case and this information was available since 1994). As such, the destruction or loss of the hair evidence could have been easily discovered by counsel through due diligence at the time of the 1996 trial. Since this claim is not newly discovered evidence, this claim is procedurally barred as a claim that could have or should have been raised at trial and

on direct appeal. See Fla. R. Crim P. 3.850(c); State v. Riechmann, 777 So. 2d 342, 361 n.20 (Fla. 2000) (holding Brady claim regarding missing crime that scene photographs was procedurally barred because defendant could and should have raised the issue on direct appeal since claim pertained to the trial record) (citing Francis v. Barton, 581 So. 2d 583 (Fla. 1991)); Lopez v. Singletary, 634 So. 2d 1054, 1056 (Fla. 1993) (holding that Brady violation was procedurally barred because it could have been raised on direct appeal); cf. Lightbourne v. Dugger, 594 So. 2d 1364, 1365 (Fla. 1989) (holding that Brady violation allegations sufficiently demonstrated the facts on which the claim is predicated were unknown to defendant or his attorney and could not have been ascertained by the exercise of due diligence, therefore, the claim was not procedurally barred.)

(R934-35). The collateral proceeding trial court properly denied this claim on procedural bar grounds, and that ruling, which follows settled Florida law, is supported by competent, substantial evidence and should not be disturbed.<sup>19</sup>

In addition to denying relief on procedural bar grounds, the trial court also found that the "destruction of evidence" claim failed because Guzman had failed to carry his burden of showing bad faith in the "loss or destruction" of the evidence. (R935). The trial court applied *Arizona v. Youngblood*, wherein the United States Supreme Court held:

We think that requiring a defendant to show bad faith on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup>The procedural bar was the primary basis for the trial court's denial of relief on this claim. (R935). The fact that the court entered alternative findings on the merits (or lack thereof) of this claim does not affect the primacy of the procedural bar ruling.

the part of the police both limits the extent of the police's obligation to preserve evidence to reasonable bounds and confines it to that class of cases where the interests of justice most clearly require it, *i.e.*, those cases in which the police themselves by their conduct indicate that the evidence could form a basis for exonerating the defendant. We therefore hold that unless a criminal defendant can show bad faith on the part of the police, failure to preserve potentially useful evidence does not constitute a denial of due process of law.

Arizona v. Youngblood, 488 U.S. 51, 58 (1988) [emphasis added].

The trial court concluded, based upon the evidence, that Guzman

had not demonstrated bad faith on the part of the State. The

court stated:

Based upon the evidence presented, bad faith by the State has not been shown. This evidence only shows that the hair evidence from Defendant's case has been permanently lost from the Daytona Beach Police Department's evidence room since 1995. There was no evidence presented that [Francis] Thompson, or anyone else, actually destroyed the hair evidence. The hair evidence is only assumed to have been destroyed based on the computer entries. Nor was there any evidence presented that Thompson or the police, by their conduct, indicated that the hair evidence could form a basis for exonerating Defendant. In fact, the lead detective testified that based on the condition of the body, *i.e.*, several incised wounds on the head, and the crime scene, i.e., hair on thigh same color and length as victim's head hair, it appeared to be cut rather than pulled from root, and blood spatter on walls and victim's legs, she assumed the hair evidence was from the victim. See October 22, 2001 Evidentiary Hearing Transcripts at 201-03. Further, the lead detective testified that she submitted the hair evidence to FDLE for testing. See October 22, 2001 Evidentiary Hearing Transcripts at 209-11. However, the April 3, 1992 FDL report stated that no hair comparisons had been performed because there were adequate hair standards. See id.; also not see

Defendant's Exhibit #5. The detective testified that it was not possible at the time of the report to obtain adequate hair standards because the victim had already been buried. See id.; see also State's Trial Exhibit #13 (death certificate, signed August 12, 1991, showing victim was cremated). Finally, the lead detective stated that the hair evidence was not significant to this case. See id. at 211; see also October 23, 2001 Evidentiary Hearing Transcripts at 249; 301 (trial counsel did not attach much significance to the hair evidence because the victim's skull had been shattered and fragments of the skull were dislodged and found in other parts of the room). Therefore, the failure to preserve of the hair evidence is not a denial of due process of law.

(R936-37). Despite Guzman's claims to the contrary, and despite his harsh criticism of the trial court, the findings set out above are supported by competent substantial evidence, and should not be disturbed.<sup>20</sup> Guzman's arguments to the contrary are just that -- arguments that were rejected by the trial court after considering all of the evidence. There is no basis for relief on this procedurally barred and meritless claim.

With respect to the *Brady* component of this claim, the collateral proceeding trial court denied relief finding the claim to be procedurally barred and meritless because Guzman

 $<sup>^{20}</sup>$ On page 62 of his brief, Guzman makes the curious argument that the trial court should not have enforced the procedural bar to the destruction of evidence claim because the "prosecutors and law enforcement officers involved" in this case did not know the evidence had been destroyed, either. He points to no legal support for this position, which is contrary to the "prosecution team" theory underlying *Brady* and *Giglio*. This claim is unsupported by argument, and is frivolous. *See*, *Lawrence* v. *State*, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S877, 880 (Fla. Oct. 17, 2002).

could not show prejudice. (R938). The court held:

As stated under Ground XII, supra, this claim is legally insufficient because the destruction of the hair evidence could have been easily discovered through the exercise of due diligence. "Although the 'due diligence' requirement is absent from the Supreme Court's most recent formulation of the Brady test, it continues to follow that a Brady claim cannot stand if a defendant knew of the evidence allegedly withheld or had possession of it, simply because the evidence cannot then be found to have been withheld from the defendant." Maharaj v. State, 778 So. 2d 944, 954 (Fla. 2000) (holding that State did not commit Brady violation regarding the contents of the victim's briefcase because defendant was aware of this material where his investigator testified that he attempted to get the contents of the briefcase and was told they had been returned to the victim's family; defendant was aware of the location of the contents of the briefcase and could compelled the production of have the document by requesting a subpoena duces decum, thus, no Brady violation occurred because the evidence cannot be found to have been withheld from the defendant)(quoting Occhicone v. State, 768 So. 2d 1037, 1041-42 (Fla. 2000)). Since this claim does not satisfy the test for a Brady violation, this claim is procedurally barred as a claim that could have or should have been raised at trial and on direct appeal. See Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850(c); Riechmann, 777 So. 2d at 361 20 (holding that n. Brady claim regarding missing crime scene photographs was procedurally barred because defendant could and should have raised the issue on direct appeal since claim pertained to the trial record)(citing Francis, 581 So. 2d at 583); Lopez, 634 So. 2d at 1056 (holding that Brady violation was procedurally barred because it could have been raised on direct appeal); cf. Lightbourne, 549 So. 2d at 1365 (holding that Brady violation allegations sufficiently demonstrated the facts on which the claim is predicated were unknown to defendant or his attorney and could not have been ascertained by the exercise of due diligence, therefore, the claim was not procedurally barred).

Although this Court is denying this claim based on the procedural bar, it notes that Defendant has failed to satisfy his burden of showing prejudice. See, Jennings, 782 So. 2d at 856 ("The ultimate test under Brady is whether the disclosed information is of such nature that there is reasonable а а probability that had the information been disclosed to the defendant, the result of the proceeding would have been different.") First, as stated under Ground XII, supra, there is no showing of the State's bad faith the failure to preserve the in hair evidence, thus, there is no violation of due process. Second, the primary theory of defense at trial was that Curtis Wallace, a black male, was the real killer, rather than Defendant. See October 23, 2001, Evidentiary Hearing Transcripts at 286; See also October 22, 2001, Evidentiary Hearing Transcripts at 204. Third, as stated under Ground XII, supra, there was no evidence presented that Thompson, or anyone else, actually destroyed the hair evidence or that Thompson or the police, by their conduct, indicated the hair evidence could form a basis for exonerating Defendant. hence, impeachment and a motion to dismiss the charges based on such alleged Brady violations, i.e., failure to disclose the destruction or loss of Caucasian brown hair evidence and Thompson's convictions, would not have, in a reasonable probability, changed the result of the trial. See also Guzman, 721 So 2d at 1159 (finding that the evidence contained in the record

demonstrates Defendant's guilt).

Regarding the Giglio portion of this claim, Defendant presented no evidence at the evidentiary hearing this claim. on Therefore, he has not meet his burden. Cf. Oakley, 677 So. 2d at880. Moreover, based on the theory of defense and the fact that there is no showing of bad faith by the State, the destruction or loss of the hair could not reasonably be taken to put the whole case in such a different light as to undermine the confidence in the verdict. See, Ventura, 794 So. 2d at 563.

(R938-9).

Those findings are supported by competent substantial evidence, and should not be disturbed.

With respect to the ineffective assistance of counsel component of this claim, the collateral proceeding trial court found that Guzman has failed to carry his burden under *Strickland v. Washington.* The Court stated:

This Court finds that Defendant has failed to meet his burden under Strickland. First, the hair was tested, but the results were inconclusive due to the lack of adequate hair standards from the victim, and further standards could not be taken from the victim because his body had been cremated in 1992. See October 22, 2001 Evidentiary Hearing Transcripts at 209-11; see also Defendant's Exhibit #5; State's Trial Exhibit # 13. Second, as stated under Grounds XII and XIII, there is no due process violation from the failure to preserve the hair evidence. Third, as stated under Ground XIII, the theory of defense was that Curtis Wright, a black male, was the actual murderer, and the missing hair evidence was Caucasian brown hair. See October 23, 2001 Evidentiary Hearing Transcripts at 286; see also October 2001 Evidentiary Hearing Transcripts 22, at 2.04;Defendant's Exhibits #1 Defendant's November 30,

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